FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/21/2022 4:40 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No.101293-4 Court of Appeals No. 82849-5-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

BRIAN GLENN COX, Appellant

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

SUZANNE LEE ELLIOTT Washington Appellate Project Suite 610, 1511 Third Ave. Seattle WA 98101 206-587-2711

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Cox seeks review of the unpublished opinion in *State v. Cox*, #82849-5-I. See Appendix I. A motion for reconsideration was denied August 22, 2022. See Appendix II.

II. INTRODUCTION

The State failed to disclose emails revealing a jailhouse snitch sought a reduction of his charges for testifying against Cox. The trial prosecutor, Craig Juris, called his fellow deputy prosecuting attorney, Mark Thompson to bolster the jailhouse snitch's testimony. Because the State had not disclosed the emails, Thompson testified falsely. The Court of Appeals rubber stamped incorrect and incomplete findings issued by the evidentiary hearing judge and approved of extensive misconduct simply by stating the evidentiary hearing judge's findings of fact were supported by substantial evidence.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should this Court take review of an opinion that approves of the State's failure to provide the defense with the material exculpatory evidence about the State's snitch witness, approves of a trial prosecutor's deliberate decision to vouch for the snitch by calling his fellow prosecutor and fails to reverse when that prosecutor testified falsely?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2013, Brian Cox was charged with two counts of solicitation to murder. In Count I, the State alleged Cox offered to pay a co-worker, Ray Lopez-Ortiz, to murder his wife. Lopez-Ortiz reported Cox to the police. The police later recorded a conversation

¹ The clerk's papers and transcripts from Cox's appeal have were transferred to the Court of Appeals file. The transferred documents are referred to as CP and RP. The clerk's papers and transcript from the evidentiary hearing are referred to as Supp.CP. and Supp.RP. The file from the initial Personal Restraint Petition, was also transferred to file in this matter.

between Cox and Lopez-Ortiz. Cox was arrested and charged with one count of solicitation to murder his ex-wife. Cox was detained.

Kenneth Parmley was charged with attempted first-degree robbery. Thurston County Mark Thompson was assigned to Parmley's prosecution. At the time of his arrest, Parmley had five prior convictions for crimes of dishonesty. He was placed in a cell with Cox on June 21, 2013. RP 472-74. Defense counsel Karl Hack represented him.

Less than a week later, Parmley contacted the State and said he wanted to inform on Cox. He told the police that Cox asked him to kill Lopez Ortiz in exchange for a reduction of the attempted first-degree robbery charge.

This began a series of emails between Juris, Thompson, and Hack.

Thompson emailed Juris and said:

My current offer on Parmley is not much: plead "as is" - Attempted Robbery 1, and recommend 27 months (low-end) of a 27-36 month sentence range. Although my victim has impeachable priors, it's a strong case.

However, if you're needing Parmley's testimony against Brian Cox, you have my authority to offer plead [sic] to (a "full") Robbery 2 (<u>not</u> merely attempt) in exchange for his truthful testimony (which could be verified by polygraph, etc.) against Cox, which would include a full discussion of his proposed testimony. Please make it clear that Robbery 2 is still a strike offense. However this range would drop to 6 - 12 months. I'd be willing to give him 12 months [chemical dependency program (CDP)] or 10 months work release; I'm unsure if he's CDP eligible. You'll be "cc'ed" [in] an e-mail that I'm sending to CDP staff to inquire about this. Karl Hack is his attorney.

Supp.CP 222.

Thompson emailed Hack:

[By the way] - I'm sending an e-mail to Craig Juris that if he has any interest in using Parmley, he can contact you. I have given him case parameters for my case (potential robbery 2 reduction) if he has such an interest.

I am also looking into CDP to see if it's even a possibility for a Robbery 2 dispo[sition], as a Rob[bery] 2 would result in a 6 - 12 month sentence range. Robbery 2nd degree is a "strike'/violent offense for which [electronic home monitoring] is not authorized per RCW 9.94A.734(1) (a). I'm asking CDP (L[ieutenant] Val Peters) whether it's possible for [a] person to do Phase I and II (only) of CDP and/or Phase III on continued work release.

Thompson also emailed Juris:

My current offer on Parmley is not much: plead "as is" - Attempted Robbery 1, and recommend 27 months (low-end) of a 27-36 month sentence range. Despite the fact that my victim has impeachable priors, it's a strong case.

However, if you're needing Parmley's testimony against Brian Cox, you have my authority to offer [to] plead to (a "full") Robbery 2 (not merely attempt) in exchange for his truthful testimony (which could be verified by polygraph, etc.) against Cox, which would include a full discussion of his proposed testimony. Please make it clear that Robbery 2 is still a strike offense. However his range would drop to 6 - 12 months. I'd be willing to give him 12 months CDP or 10 months [of] work release; I'm unsure if he's CDP eligible. You'll b[e] "cc'ed" [in] an e-mail that I'm sending to CDP staff to inquire about this. Karl Hack is his attorney.

Hack emailed Thompson:

Thanks much! Like I said, Parmley is offering to help Craig for zero consideration. The other dude is plain dangerous.

Juris emailed Thompson:

Thanks for the info. I just sent an e[-]mail to Jen Kolb asking her what she thinks of using Parmley for info[rmation]. As soon as I talk to her I will let you know where we stand. Also, I see an e[-]mail from Hack indicating that Parmley would be willing to help with no consideration. Somehow I don't believe that but you have a better sense of this guy than I do. What is

your thought? No use selling the farm if we don't need to.

Juris also sent a joint email to Thompson and Hack:

Karl

Are you saying that Parmley doesn't want a deal in connection to my case? If that is the situation then I will have Detective Kolb interview him [as soon as possible]. If I am reading your e[-]mail incorrectly let me know and I will wait to have Kolb talk to him until you, me, and Mark get a plan in place.

Hack responded:

If he gets consideration in Mark's case for his cooperation in yours then all the better, but he's not asking for any promises in Mark's case. He thinks your guy needs to be off the street. Go ahead and have Det[ective] Kolb interview Parmley.

Juris told Thompson:

I have been e[-]mailing with Detective Kolb and with Karl. Parmley is willing to be interviewed about Cox with nothing in return. We had talked about a more in depth investigation but that is being put on hold. Karl said he would be appreciative of any consideration you give him but made very clear in my e[-]mail that he is not expecting any. I am sending Jen in to interview him as soon as she has a chance.

Supp.CP at 222-224.

Kolb interviewed Parmley and sent Juris and Thompson:

I got a recorded statement from Parmley today.

[For your information] Mark....he's really hoping for a good deal (I think he said low of 12 months or something), but even if he doesn't get what he wants, he knows this guy needs to be kept off the streets.

Supp.CP at 228.

Thompson emailed Hack and Juris:

Juris would likely use your client's testimony in his case against Brian Cox.

Secondly, I'll indicate that I am willing to give your client the "Robbery 2" based upon his lack of violent history and his request for drug treatment through CDP. But I want to get that entered sooner[rather]than[]later, in order to get him onto the waiting list for CDP [as soon as possible] so that he can have time to fully participate in at least Phases I and II. The plea to Robbery 2 would have to be via "in re Barr" as this was not a completed robbery and, therefore, the [probable cause] facts do not establish Robbery 2.

Finally, with respect to your client's involvement as a possible witness in Craig Juris'[s] attempted murder case involving Brian Cox, you have represented to me that your client has already given a statement to law enforcement about conversations he had with Cox while [he was] Cox's cellmate, which involved Cox soliciting your client to possibly "tamper" (at the very least) with a witness in the Cox case. Your client provided his statement to Detective Kolb about this situation prior to any representations or promises by me about what I was going to do specifically with my case

against him (Parmley). However, I believe that prior to Parmley's statement to Detective Kolb in the Cox case, I had at least sent a "cc" to you of e-mail inquiries I made to L[ieutenant] Peters about the jail's CDP program, which would only be possible if I were later agreeing to reduce the current Attempted Robbery 1 charge to Robbery 2. I'm uncertain whether you had shared my e-mails with your client prior to his statement to Det[ective] Kolb.

In any event, you have indicated that your client is willing to truthfully testify against Cox should he be needed by Craig, and that such truthful testimony would be consistent with his statement to Det[ective] Kolb and be provided without me needing to condition my case's outcome on your client's testimony. I am tentatively indicating to you that my offer of Robbery 2 will not be conditioned on your client's cooperation as a witness in the Cox case, but I want to first ask Craig if he is "okay" with this?

Supp.CP at 244.

Hack responded to Thompson:

I've only told Parmley that you might let him take Robbery 2, but that you made no promises and that this possibility is not contingent on anything that Parmley may or may not do in the Cox case.

Thompson responded:

• Plead guilty to an amended charge of Robbery 2nd Degree. This plea should be via in re Barr, as the original charge does not involve a completed Robbery 1.

- The State's original recommendation is amended only insofar as noted below:
- 12 months jail may be served in Jail's [CDP] if eligible and to extent eligible.
- As previously discussed via e-mails with L[ieutenant] Val Peters of the jail, "Phase III" normally involves EHM [(electronic home monitoring)]. However, RCW 9.94A.731(1)(a) prohibits EHM for a "violent" offense. The jail will still take a Robbery 2 non-prison sentence and if the person reaches Phase III, they'll likely just remain on work release if otherwise eligible.

I have confirmed with Craig Juris that he is fine with us proceeding with a [change of plea at sentencing] immediately. To hopefully obtain a [change of plea at sentencing] next week, please let me know [as soon as possible] if I can seek to enter a [pretrial protection order] with your e-mail approval for next week. Please just indicate what dates you are available. Again, I am trying to avoid next Friday if possible.

Supp.CP at 245..

Thompson also told Hack:

Per your client's info[rmation] that he knew the victim (Greg Hokanson) from their "old drug days", I did run criminal history on the victim, which I am disclosing to you per this e-mail.

Again, I'm not too worried about the victim's impeachables, in light of other evidence in this case including your client, on video, trying to hide a B.B. gun after the alleged robbery attempt.

Supp.C.P. at 248.

Parmley was placed in protective custody and, via his lawyer, asked Thompson if the State could assist him getting out of that restrictive setting. Thompson was also assisting Parmley in clearing up his Jefferson County warrants so that he could enter the jail drug treatment program.

Parmley's lawyer asked if Thompson was insisting on drug treatment. Thompson said he was. He then sent the following email to Juris and Hack:

I'm "ccing" this to Craig because everything here is sound a bit manipulative. [Craig – there are other emails besides just this one. Parmley charged with an attempted Robbery 1 with a 27-36 months sentence range. I was ready to allow him a Robbery 2 (completed" -would have to be in re Barr) after, as I reference above, Parmley was indicating he'd only had treatment once before, that it was not much, and that he really needed treatment. And, besides, he was willing to be your witness "no strings attached". By dropping the charge to a completed Robbery 2, it dramatically drops the sentence range to only 6-12 months. But I was willing to allow him into CDP with a 10 month

recommendation and made some calls to the jail to make sure they'd take a Robbery 2 into CDP and notwithstanding that EHM is not allow for violent offenses, meaning CDP's phase III's EHM was not going to happen. And CDP said "yes". Then Parmley is trying to avoid CDP due to a Jefferson Co. misdemeanor B.W.- which I've indicated can be easily addressed; then he came back with "how about just 9 months straight time?" I think I'm dealing with a smart con and I figured I'd better give you a head's up about this.]

Supp.CP at 257.

Based upon Parmley's statements, the State charged Cox with a second count of solicitation to murder to Lopez-Ortiz. Although Juris called Parmley and Thompson as witnesses in his case-in-chief, neither Juris nor Thompson provided the above-described emails to Cox and his lawyer, Strophy.

Parmley was the only witness for Count 2. Parmley testified that he wanted to get a deal on his robbery charge but:

I talked to my attorney, he had talked to the prosecutor, tried to get a deal for me and they weren't going to do anything. But I talked – a little bit of time I thought about it and I just told my attorney that I felt like I needed to do it anyway.

Q. What changed your mind?

A. It may sound kind of corny, and I started reading the Bible and stuff and I just wanted to do the right thing, and I was actually concerned if he got the wrong person, got ahold of the wrong person, that some of this stuff might actually happen.

Q. He being whom?

A. Brian Cox.

RP 504.

Parmley testified that he never got a deal and: "I got the highest end of my sentence possible for the charge." RP 514.

Parmley also denied recanting his statement to the police. RP 514.

Sonny Borja was housed in the same tank as Parmley and Cox. RP 612. He said Parmley told him that Cox was "going to be my (Parmley's) golden ticket out of here," and those were his exact words. RP 620. Borja heard Parmley tell Cox that if he bailed him out, he'd take care of his wife for \$10,000, to which Cox responded: "I don't want to pay anybody," he said, "I don't. I'm not - - that's why I'm in here. No, I don't want to do this," you know. RP 618.

To boost Parmley's credibility and undercut the testimony of Borja, Juris called Thompson as a witness. He said that Parmley had

not asked for any consideration in exchange for the information. *Id*.

Thompson testified Parmley's lawyer

made it clear that Parmley just had felt it that this was wrong and what he had heard from Cox, and that he just wanted to come forward and let somebody know what had been said.

RP 463. He repeated Parmley was not provided any consideration. *Id*.

On cross-examination, Strophy asked Thompson what Parmley was originally charged with. RP 464. Thompson stated:

I believe I charged him initially with first-degree robbery. I will admit that I was supposed to be checking that prior to testifying. I was scheduled this afternoon and I literally had to hand a couple of cases off to a colleague on a calendar that's going on right now. So that's my recollection.

RP 465. He testified that Parmley entered a plea to second-degree robbery. *Id.* He did not explain to the jury this reduced Parmley's standard sentencing range from 27-36 months in prison to 12 months in a jail-based drug treatment program.

Strophy asked:

So any of the notes or conversations from Parmley or conversations with Hack, was it mention he had hoped, for in for a better deal?

Thompson said "no." RP 464.

Under questioning by Juris, Thompson told the jury the reduction was because the robbery victim had prior criminal history and because of Parmley's "time in the community that he had been successfully able to remain crime free." RP 467.

Cox was convicted as charged and appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished decision. *State v. Cox*, 196 Wash. App. 1051 (2016).

In 2017 Cox discovered the 2013 emails between Juris, Thompson, and Hack. He filed a PRP and argued that Thompson had given false testimony and the State had withheld material impeachment evidence. In response, the State provided additional emails. The Court of Appeals issued an unpublished decision remanding the matter for an evidentiary hearing. *Matter of Cox*, 10 Wash. App. 2d 1010 (2019).

At the evidentiary hearing, Juris agreed the only witness for Count 2 was Parmley. Supp. R.P. 45. He also agreed there was no evidence to corroborate Parmley's testimony. *Id.* Without Parmley's testimony, there would never have been a second count. *Id.* Juris agreed he had not provided Strophy with the emails between him, Thompson and Hack. He stated although Thompson told him he should give the emails to Cox's lawyer, he never did. Supp. R.P. 56. He did not provide Strophy with Parmley's charge, guilty plea statement, judgment and sentence. Supp. R.P. 53.

Juris agreed the emails contained far more extensive information about how Parmley resolved his case. Supp. R.P. 71. He agreed the jury did not hear Thompson's assessment he felt Parmley was being manipulative. Supp. R.P. 57, 72. The jury also did not hear Thompson's agreement to recommend drug treatment would also assist Parmley in getting his warrants cleared up. Supp. R.P. 58, 72. Juris also agreed that after Parmley's lawyer told the State Parmley would testify without a deal, he continued to ask for one. Supp. R.P. 59. He agreed the jury did not hear about Parmley's

consideration on the Jefferson county warrant or that he even had outstanding warrants. R.P. 62.

Juris agreed that in Thompson's emails, he suggested that Parmley's statements be confirmed by a polygraph. But he said that would only have been required if there was "some kind of plea" agreement. Supp. R.P. 51.

When asked why he called Thompson as a witness, Juris said he knew there would be an "issue" about whether Parmley received a "deal" so he wanted an "independent witness" to verify that. Supp. R.P. 52. When asked: "You would agree that [Thompson's testimony] bolstered Parmley's testimony," Juris answered "absolutely."

Thompson testified he told Juris to turn the Parmley negotiations over to Strophy. Supp.RP 120. Thompson denied ever making "a deal" with Parmley contingent on his testimony. Supp. R.P. 26. He also said Hack was not seeking "a deal" in connection with the case. Supp.RP. 27. He claimed Parmley never received "a deal" for his testimony. R.P. 31. He admitted, however, Parmley's

charges were reduced and Parmley could enter the Thurston County Chemical Dependency Program. *Id.* Despite the emails back and forth, Thompson denied the reduction had anything to do with Parmley's testimony against Cox even though he used the word "cooperation" in his email. Supp.RP 92, 94.

Strophy testified he had some information to impeach Parmley with but he did not have the emails. Supp.RP 185. But Strophy said the emails were essential to attack Parmley's credibility. He said it would have been helpful impeachment to know Parmley told the prosecutors he was hoping for a better deal; to know Detective Kolb told Thompson Parmley was hoping for a better deal; to know Parmley asked for 12 months and eventually got a reduction of charges and received exactly 12 months; to impeach Thompson with his statement to Juris that their emails about Parmley should be disclosed to the defense; to use Thompson's assessment Parmley might "arguably" be influenced by the reduction; to know Parmley sought to withdraw his plea and Thompson characterized that as "manipulation"; and Parmley was

getting assistance on quashing a \$5,000 warrant from Jefferson County. Supp.RP 188-89, 194.

At the close of the evidentiary hearing, the judge found Thompson had not testified falsely, and the emails Juris suppressed were not material. Supp.CP 529-42. He ignored Strophy's testimony about why the State's failure to provide the emails was exculpatory and why having the emails would have allowed him to impeach both Parmley and Thompson.

Cox appealed the evidentiary hearing judge's order.

The Court of Appeals issued an opinion that addresses none of the controlling law. Instead, the Court simply states the reference hearing findings were supported by substantial evidence. Slip Opinion at 9.

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals has approved of a serious constitutional violations of Cox's right to due process under the State and Federal constitutions. The

evidentiary hearing judge with the approval of the Court of Appeals has approved of this conduct. As a result, the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with controlling United States Supreme Court precedent. RAP 13.4(b).

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