FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/24/2022 4:27 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 101293-4 COA No. 82849-5-I

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRIAN GLENN COX,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Donald Richter, Judge Cause No. 13-1-00914-9

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph J.A. Jackson Attorney for Respondent 2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

##

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

2RP 42. Juris indicated that he did not dive deeper into Parmley's warrant history other than a cursory look at what his criminal history was. 2RP 42. On cross examination, Juris reiterated that "Mr. Thompson was a witness to verify the actual factual basis that no agreement was made, not his opinion of what Mr. Parmley's personality was." 2RP 74.

Thurston County Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney, Mark Thompson, testified at the reference hearing. 2RP 77-78. Thompson confirmed that Parmley was originally charged with attempted robbery in the first degree. 2RP 79. While prosecuting Parmley, Thompson received an email from Thurston County Corrections indicating that Parmley had information he wanted to provide. 2RP 79. Thompson acknowledged that he had sent an email to Mr. Juris authorizing him to negotiate a cooperation agreement if he chose to. 2RP 80. Thompson testified that independent of the case involving Mr. Cox, he was considering a reduction to robbery in the second degree and looking into the chemical dependency program. 2RP 81. Thompson indicated that he and defense attorney Hack were looking into the chemical dependency program early on in the case against Mr. Parmley. 2RP 81-82.

Thompson testified that Juris indicated that he did not feel the need to enter into a cooperation agreement with Mr. Parmley. 2RP 85. Thompson testified that Juris received an email from defense counsel Hack indicating that Parmley was willing to help without consideration and Juris emailed Thompson, "No use in selling the farm if we don't need to." 2RP 86. No cooperation agreement was offered. 2RP 86.

In August of 2013, Thompson made an offer to Mr. Hack for a reduction in Parmley's case to robbery in the second degree with the Thurston County Jail Chemical Dependency Program. 2RP 86. The offer indicated that the resolution was not contingent on Mr. Parmley cooperating in the case against Mr.

Cox. 2RP 87. Mr. Thompson testified

I did put down that he was tenably - - I'm tenably giving you this offer. I just wanted to copy it to Mr. Juris to make sure, but at this point I was prepared to go ahead and make that offer as long as Mr. Juris did not give me a reason to condition it on anything, and he later - - Mr. Juris later indicated that he was fine taking the - - allowing me to make the offer and going forward with the plea.

2RP 87. In a subsequent email, Thompson confirmed to Hack

that Mr. Juris was not asking that it be contingent upon testimony

in Mr. Cox's case. 2RP 87-88.

Thompson testified that at one point during the discussion

of the chemical dependency program, he and Mr. Hack had a

discussion regarding a warrant for failure to transfer title out of

Jefferson County. 2RP 88. Thompson testified,

The hope was that we were going to - - once Mr. Parmley was sentenced on a robbery second degree charge, that he'd be put on the waiting list, that he would then be sent up to Jefferson County so he could go ahead and clear that warrant. That would go ahead and allow him then to be able to have a seamless transition from an inpatient in-custody phase one to a work release phase two part of the program without having to worry about a warrant at that time.

2RP 89. When asked if anything about the warrant related to the prosecution of Mr. Cox, Thompson responded, "no, that's something that at least I've been doing for years. It just helps the person, like I said seamlessly be able to participate in the CDP program." 2RP 89.

Thompson testified that at one point in the negotiations, Mr. Hack indicated that his client might want to do straight jail time rather than the chemical dependency program and Thompson testified, "I went ahead and basically sent him the email saying that if we were gonna (sic) walk away from a CDP, that was basically the end of the reasons given me for that reduction and I would go ahead and pull the offer." 2RP 90-91. Thompson said the reason for his offer was,

Mr. Hack had been the one that had discussed the fact that his client had been relapsing - - or had relapsed after about six or seven years clean and sober, and that seemed to be also a suggestion supported by the fact that Mr. Parmley did have some drug convictions from years before, back in

around 2005, and several theft type of behavior before that which would be at least consistent with possible drug usage. There was also in the police reports the suggestion from the victim that Mr. Parmley was acting very strange which would be at least consistent, in my mind, with that.

2RP 91.

Eventually Parmley accepted the reduction with the chemical dependency program. 2RP 91-92. Thompson confirmed that the resolution that had been worked out was in no way contingent upon Mr. Parmley cooperating in the prosecution of Mr. Cox. 2RP 95. Thompson indicated, if a resolution involving cooperation had been reached, he

Would have done two things. We would have first noted it in this plea agreement as far as what conditions were made. Obviously, the court makes if there's the inquiry any promises or representations that are being made to the defendant pursuant to them entering a change of plea. So we go ahead and first would indicate that there was that requirement, that it was conditioned upon his cooperation with the testimony against Mr. Cox. I would also go ahead and have (sic) drafted and required him to sign an actual contract to testify or agreement to testify against Mr. Cox in his case, and that way I'm protected. If Mr. Parmley would have gone ahead and backed out of his agreement to

testify, then I would have an actual legal basis to go ahead and seek to withdraw the plea.

2RP 96-97. Thompson confirmed that did not occur in the prosecution of Kenneth Parmley. 2RP 98.

When asked about his knowledge of Mr. Parmley's warrants, Thompson testified that other than the Jefferson County warrant he was not aware of other warrants at the time of his testimony at trial. 2RP 121-122. When asked if that would have affected his testimony about Parmley doing well in the community, Thompson testified,

Unsure. Sometimes those are financial warrants, and sometimes they're just - - they just move. I mean, like I said, when I go ahead and make a statement that he's been crime free for a while, I go ahead and look at a fact - - and I even re-looked at Mr. Parmley's history preparing for today, and I just see there's a big gap of nothing since 2005 to 2012.

2RP 122.

Parmley's attorney, Karl Hack, also testified at the reference hearing. Mr. Hack indicated that he had told Mr. Thompson that if Parmley got consideration that would be fine, but Parmley was not asking for any promises in exchange for coming forward. 2RP 146. Hack confirmed that neither Thompson nor Juris ever conditioned a resolution on Mr. Parmley cooperating in the prosecution of Mr. Cox. 2RP 153-154. Hack further indicated that a cooperation agreement would normally be reflected in the statement of defendant on plea of guilty and there was no such notation in Mr. Parmley's paperwork. 2RP 155. Mr. Hack also testified with his experience dealing with Mr. Thompson and how he would expect any agreement to be in reflected in the plea statement, testifying,

> Yes, especially dealing with Mr. Thompson. Mr. Thompson is very fastidious about having everything in writing, and that's just another reason why I feel that you can be sure that anything like that would have been reflected somewhere. Mr. Thompson is very careful about these things.

2RP 155-156.

As its last witness at the reference hearing, the State called defense attorney Paul Strophy, who represented Mr. Cox at trial. 2RP 172. Strophy testified, "my general memory is that during my cross-examination of Mr. Parmley I was aware of him mentioning to Detective Kolb on multiple times during his interview with her that, you know, one of his goals was to get a better deal, or hopes, I should say, was to get a better deal." 2RP 174, RP 521. Strophy acknowledged that he was able to cross examine Parmley on that issue during trial. 2RP 174-175, RP 522, 531. Strophy acknowledged that he had received a copy of the interview conducted by Detective Kolb in discovery. 2RP 176. Strophy also acknowledged that he questioned Parmley about his plea and his criminal history. 2RP 176. Strophy testified, "I was aware of the criminal history that was provided in discovery by the State. I don't know if that was complete, but I have no reason to believe that it was not complete." 2RP 177. Strophy also acknowledged that he was provided the inmate kites from Mr. Parmley prior to trial and that he was able to cross examine Parmley about those. 2RP 178-179.

Strophy also testified about his cross examination of Mr. Thompson and indicated that he was aware that there had been a reduction in the charge for Mr. Parmley's case at the time of trial in Mr. Cox's case. 2RP 179. When asked about the warrant history, Mr. Strophy indicated that he learned about them after trial, but further noted "I don't know whether or not the court would have ruled them admissible, and even prior to that I don't know whether or not I would have been able to prepare any specific arguments as to why they were admissible prior to trial." 2RP 181.

The defense elected to call no witnesses at the reference hearing. 2RP 208. Following the reference hearing, the trial court gave a detailed oral ruling. When considering whether Parmley's testimony that he did not get a deal for his testimony was false, the trial court noted, "what this court sees is explicit evidence from both Mr. Hack [and Mr. Thompson] that Mr. Parmley was not asking for a deal in exchange for his testimony." 2RP 240-241. The trial court noted, "There was testimony from Mr. Parmley during his interview with the detective that he was hoping for some consideration, and that was clearly in front of the jury and was clearly something that was provided to Mr. Cox's defense attorney at trial." 2RP 241.

When discussing whether Cox had demonstrated that Mr. Thompson testified falsely, the trial court noted there was a very specific quote from Mr. Thompson's testimony that was claimed to have been false in that "Mr. Thompson had claimed that there were no notes or messages that were available detailing the plea negotiations." 2RP 241. The trial court noted that the actual transcript shows that Thompson was asked if there were any notes or messages that had either Mr. Parmley or Mr. Hack expressing that he hoped for a better deal. 2RP 242. The trial court stated,

> The court then went and looked for any information whether or not that statement was true and again was confronted with the multiple emails in which Mr. Hack was relaying to Mr. Thompson that any cooperation in regards to Mr. Cox's case was to be without consideration.

2RP 242.

The trial court next indicated that Mr. Thompson testified that there had been a reduction in the charge based on a number of things. 2RP 242-243. The trial court specifically found that "Thompson cannot be said to have been testifying falsely when he referenced crime free in the community." 2RP 244. The court held, "So this court does not find that the petitioner has met his burden to prove that there was actual false testimony from Mr. Parmley or Mr. Thompson." 2RP 244.

The trial court then discussed whether the existence of misdemeanor warrants was impeachment evidence. The court stated, "At the reference hearing, there was no evidence submitted that detailed that these warrants were issued after failing to appear where a written promise to appear or a promise to appear had been made." 2RP 244-245. The court indicated based on the evidence presented at the reference hearing, "the court does not find that the existence of those warrants in and of themselves provided impeachable material that was failed to have been disclosed." 2RP 245. The court further noted, "this

court saw no evidence that Mr. Parmley was aware of any warrants except for" the Jefferson County warrant for failure to transfer title. 2RP 245-246. The court noted that the emails from Mr. Thompson indicated the warrant would not keep Parmley from entering the chemical dependency program and the stated, "important in that email is there is never a reference or condition upon removing of that warrant or any discussion about how removing that warrant would be conditioned upon Mr. Parmley's testimony in the Cox case." 2RP 246-247.

The trial court then discussed whether a failure to provide email strings was a failure to provide impeachable evidence. The trial court found,

Even though the email streams themselves were not forwarded to Mr. Cox's attorney, apparently the interview of Mr. Parmley by the detective, which included his statement that he was hoping for a deal or a break in his case that was provided to defense counsel, and in fact he was cross-examined about that multiple times during his testimony at the Cox trial. The kite where he was going to recant his testimony was also provided to defense counsel, and the letter where he was put in protective custody, and he was unhappy about that situation, and his indication he was going to refuse to testify unless that was addressed by Mr. Juris - - that letter was also supplied to defense counsel.

2RP 249-250. The trial court entered written findings of fact and conclusions of law consistent with its oral ruling. Supp CP 529-534.

#### 4. Court of Appeals Decision.

In an unpublished opinion, Division I of the Court of Appeals, noted that the procedural posture of the case stemmed from a collateral attack. <u>Unpublished Opinion</u>, No. 82949-5-I, at 6. The Court of Appeals properly noted that the trial court's determination of credibility cannot be reviewed on appeal. *Id.*; <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Davis</u>, 152 Wn.2d 647, 679, 101 P.3d 1 (2004). The Court of Appeals declined to consider Cox's claim of improper vouching because the claim was beyond the scope of remand for the reference hearing. <u>Unpublished Opinion</u>, at 9. The Court of Appeals found that the trial court's findings and conclusions were supported by substantial evidence and affirmed

the reference hearing findings. *Id.* at 10. Cox now seeks review of that decision.

## C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

## 1. <u>There is no basis under RAP 13.4(b) upon which</u> this Court should accept review.

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court

only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Cox's Petition for Review argues that the decision

of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the of the

United States Supreme Court, Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83,

87, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963). The decision of the

Court of Appeals does not conflict with Brady. In fact, the record

demonstrates that the Court of Appeals remanded the case to the trial court to conduct a factual hearing regarding the allegations of prosecutorial misconduct. The issue considered by the Court of Appeals was whether or not the trial court's findings and conclusions from the reference hearing were supported by substantial evidence. The Court of Appeals properly gave deference to the credibility determinations of the trial court. Davis, at 680.

The petition for review does not demonstrate error by the Court of Appeals, rather the petition focuses on issues that were considered and decided by the trial court during the reference hearing. The decision of the Court of Appeals properly reviewed those findings to see if they were supported by substantial evidence. <u>Ino Ino, Inc. v. City of Bellevue</u>, 132 Wn.2d 103, 112-13, 937 P.2d 154, 943 P.2d 1358 (1997). The decision of the Court of Appeals properly recognized the unique procedural posture of the proceedings. The decision does not conflict with decisions of the United States Supreme Court or the Washington State Supreme Court. There is no basis upon which this Court should accept review.

In addition to the arguments contained herein, the State incorporates the arguments included in the Brief of Respondent which more thoroughly demonstrate why the Court of Appeals decision was correctly decided.

#### D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The State respectfully requests that this Court deny review and affirm the decision of the Court of Appeals.

I certify that this document contains 4655 words, not including those portions exempted from the word count, as counted by word processing software, in compliance with RAP 18.17.

Respectfully submitted this 24th day of October 2022.

Joseph J.A. Jackson, WSBA# 37306 Attorney for Respondent